IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAN - 22 1998

CITIZENS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellants,

v.

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION,

Appellee.

Daniely Stork

CASE NO. 75,029

On Appeal From the Florida Public Service Commission

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE CITIZENS
On Behalf of the Citizens of the State of Florida

Jack Shreve Public Counsel

Office of Public Counsel c/o The Florida Legislature 111 West Madison Street Room 812 Tallahassee, FL 32399-1400

(904) 488-9330

Attorney for the Citizens of the State of Florida

##

#### INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal from order no. 22060 of the Florida Public Service Commission relating to the rates charged by United Telephone Company of Florida. Part of order no. 22060 is a notice of proposed agency action; part is final agency action. This appeals the portion of order no. 22060 designated final agency action by the Florida Public Service Commission.

The Public Counsel is charged by section 350.0611, Fla. Stat. (1987) to provide legal representation for the people of the state in proceedings before the Florida Public Service Commission. Jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court by Article V, Section 3(b)(2), Florida Constitution, and sections 350.128(1) and 364.381, Fla. Stat. (1987). Pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.220, this brief is accompanied by an appendix which includes a copy of the order to be reviewed. References to the appendix are denoted as (A).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On June 22, 1982 the Florida Public Service Commission ("Commission" or "PSC") adopted rule 25-14.003 (A 1) (the "tax rule") to deal with changes in corporate income tax rates. In a full rate case, the Commission sets a utility's rates to allow the company to recover a return on its investment and all of its operating expenses, including taxes. The taxes recovered through customers' rates in a full rate case include the utility's federal corporate income tax expense. The Commission's tax rule takes a change in corporate income tax rates into account after a rate case.

The tax rule defines the term "tax savings" as the difference between a utility's tax expense under old income tax rates and new income tax rates. When the utility's income tax rate decreases, under the rule the utility is liable to refund all or part of the tax savings to its customers if its earnings reach a certain level. Likewise, when the income tax rate increases, the rule allows the utility to collect the increased expense from its customers if its earnings reach a particular level.

This case deals with the situation where income tax expense decreased after the utility's rate case. The Tax Reform Act of 1986 decreased the corporate income tax rate from 46% to 34% effective July 1, 1986. The last rate case of United Telephone

Company of Florida ("United") was conducted in 1982. Under the tax rule, the utility must make a refund of all or part of its tax savings if, at the end of the year, the company earns a rate of return which is at or above the midpoint of its authorized range,. The rule defines the term "midpoint" as the midpoint of the range of return approved by the Commission in the company's last rate case.

The rule says nothing about offsetting required tax savings refunds with other actions by the utility. It says:

#### "(2) Tax Savings Refunds . . .

(a) When, during the reporting period described in paragraph (5)(a) below, a utility is earning a rate of return which is at or above the midpoint of its authorized range computed without consideration of a tax rate reduction, the utility shall refund all associated revenues as described in paragraph (5)(c)...

#### (5) Procedures . . .

- (c) . . each utility shall file a petition containing a calculation of and the method for refunding or collecting any tax savings or deficiency for the tax year of the The Commission will review the petition and either approve it, approve it with modifications, or deny it; an opportunity for a hearing on the Commission's decision then be provided, if requested. Thereafter, the utility shall either make the refund to or collect the deficiency from its customers accordance in paragraphs (e) and (f) of this subsection . .
- (e) The utility may make any refund or collection either as a lump sum payment or

billing or in monthly installments not to exceed twelve (12) months. Such refunds or collections shall be made to or from current customers of the utility at the time that such refunds or collections are to be effected. In either event, the utility shall refund or collect the amount with interest accruing on any outstanding balance from the date of overcollection or underpayment. Interest shall be set by the Commission" (A 2-3).

In addition to the tax rule, a number of Commission orders affect this case. On January 2, 1987 the Commission issued order no. 17053 (A 4) noticing a proposed agency action reducing access charges. In re: Intrastate Telephone Access Charses for Toll Use of Local Exchanse Services, 87 F.P.S.C. 1:79 (1987). "Access charges" are those charges a local exchange company such as United charges long distance companies to complete the long distance company's calls. The proposed agency action order directed each local exchange company in Florida to reduce its access charges. The order stated:

"While the revenue effects of reducing access charges are of great concern to us, we do not intend at this time to make specific decisions regarding the recovery of any lost access revenues. We believe that, in addition to local rates, each LEC has various additional sources of revenues available to it which may be used to partially or totally offset any lost access charge revenues. As only one example, we note that the Tax Reform Act of 1986 will result in a tax expense savings for each LEC. This savings may offset the access revenue reduction and, if the tax savings is sufficient, a LEC could reduce its access

charges as we have directed herein and still suffer no net revenue loss.

We reiterate that we are expressly declining to make any provision in this order for any generic mechanisms to offset any access revenue losses. We believe that the affected LECs will be better served if we determine on a case-by-case basis whether any offsetting revenue sources are needed for each specific LEC, and if so, the appropriate means of securing those additional revenues."

Id. at 81 (emphasis added).

Six telephone companies other than United accepted the Commission's proposed agency action order. The Commission's consummating order no. 17173 issued February 9, 1987 (A 10) confirmed the rate reductions for those six telephone companies. United Telephone Company of Florida filed a protest of the proposed agency action and requested a hearing.

But without any hearings, the Commission issued a final agency action order on April 20, 1987, resolving the protest made by United Telephone Company. <u>In re: Intrastate Telephone Access Charges for Toll use of Local Exchange Services, et. al.</u>, 87 F.P.S.C. 4:240 (1987) (A 12). The order states that on March 19, 1987, the Commission's staff filed a recommendation that United be ordered to eliminate its estimated 1987 tax savings of \$7,150,000 by reducing its access charges effective May 1, 1987, producing an estimated revenue reduction of

\$6,700,000 for 1987. It also recommended increasing United's depreciation expense by \$568,000 during 1987 to reduce United's revenue requirement by an additional \$450,000. United responded to the staff's proposal on March 27, 1987, agreeing to accept the proposed action as a reasonable means of resolving some of the dockets involving United.

The order went on to say that "we will order the disposition of \$7,150,000 associated with United's tax expense reduction for 1987. This will be in lieu of the application of Commission Rule 25-14.003" Id. at 241 (emphasis added). Similarly, the order stated that the access charge reduction and depreciation expense increases disposed of United's 1987 savings and tax expense. Id. at 242.

A different order deals with United's 1988 and 1989 tax savings. Commission order no. 19726 issued July 26, 1988 is a notice of proposed agency action authorizing a new rate of return on equity for United during 1988 and 1989. In re: Petition by United Telephone Company of Florida for Approval of a Return on Equity to be Used in 1988 for Purposes of Rule 25-14.003, F.A.C., et. al., 88 F.P.S.C. 7:284 (1988) (A 15). This order states the following:

"For the two year period 1988-1989, we will authorize an ROE (return on equity) for United of 13.5% as a midpoint with a range of 12.5% as a minimum and 14.5% as a maximum. This ROE shall be used for all purposes, which shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

1. (3) Rule 25-14.003 regarding income tax expense." Id. at 285 (emphasis added).

No party protested this proposed agency action, thereby allowing it to become final agency action.

This order, like the tax rule itself, said nothing about applying access charge rate reductions to offset the refund mechanism contained in the tax rule. Under the tax rule, rate increases or decreases simply affect a company's earnings. Only an earnings test is used to determine a company's liability for a tax savings refund to its customers.

In the first part of 1989 United reported earning a return on equity of 14.28% for calendar year 1988. Though section (5)(c) of the tax rule requires utilities to file a report accompanied by a petition containing a calculation of and method for refunding any tax savings for the year of the report, United submitted none. This led the Public Counsel to file a "Petition to Compel Compliance with Commission Rule 25-14.003 by United Telephone Company of Florida" on April 10, 1989 (A 18). The petition stated that the Commission's rule requires a refund of tax savings either as a lump sum payment or in monthly installments to the extent a

company earns in excess of its midpoint. It argued that since (1) commission order no. 19726 set a midpoint of a 13.5% return on equity applicable to Rule 25-14.003 during 1988, and (2) United earned in excess of that midpoint, it followed that United should refund its tax savings to the extent it earned in excess of a 13.5% return on equity.

United filed its answer on May 2, 1989 (A 21). In its answer United stated that the 1988 effect of its access charge rate reduction made in 1987 reduced its revenues by an amount just greater than its tax savings during 1988 and that it should therefore not be required to refund any of its tax savings to its customers — even if it did earn in excess of its midpoint return on equity during 1988.

The Commission issued order no. 22060 on October 16, 1989 (A 32), disposing of the Public Counsel's petition. The Commission decided, as final agency action, that United's access charge reduction implemented in 1987 should offset the company's liability for a tax savings refund under its tax rule during 1988. Without citing any provision of its rule, the Commission stated that "the first step in applying the tax rule is to determine the amount of the company's tax savings and then to determine if any of that amount has been disposed of through Commission action" (A 32, 33).

The Public Counsel filed a Notice of Administrative Appeal of this decision on November 15, 1989.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Commission violated the unambiguous language of its tay rule and its order no. 19726 when it refused to order a tax savings refund to United's customers for 1988. The rule clearly requires a refund of tax savings if a utility earns above its midpoint return on equity. Order no. 19726 set United's midpoint return on equity at 13.5% during 1988 for the explicit purpose of applying the tax rule. Yet when United reported earnings in excess of this amount during 1988, the Commission, contrary to its rule, offset the amount of tax savings refund due United's customers by the 1988 effect of a rate reduction to long distance companies United made in 1987.

The Commission applies its tax rule inconsistently. It offsets the tax savings refunds due customers under its rule by the amount of rate reductions given to long distance companies, but at the same time it ignores customer rate increases levied by utilities.

# THE COMMISSION VIOLATED ITS OWN RULE BY REDUCING THE AMOUNT OF TAX SAVINGS DUE UNITED'S CUSTOMERS BY A RATE REDUCTION TO LONG DISTANCE COMPANIES

Generally, an agency's application of its own rules is entitled to great deference. Woodley v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 505 So.2d 676, 678 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) (citing Franklin Ambulance Services v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 450 So.2d 580 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). "But judicial deference to agency interpretation is not absolute. When the agency's construction clearly contradicts the unambiguous language of the rule, the construction is clearly erroneous and cannot stand." Id. (citing Kearse v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 474 So.2d 819 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

The Commission's tax rule applies to utilities when corporate income tax rates have either risen (resulting in a "tax deficiency") or dropped (resulting in a "tax savings"). In either instance, the utility's midpoint rate of return is the touchstone for determining the extent of the utility's tax deficiency or savings. The tax savings or deficiency is compared against the company's earned return on equity. The rule does not direct the agency to subtract any amount from the tax savings calculation before proceeding to a comparison of the tax savings amount with the utility's earned return on equity and authorized midpoint

return on equity. Order cf. No. 22060 supra at 271 (A 33) ("the first step in applying the Tax Rule is to determine the amount of a company's tax savings and then to determine if any of that amount has been disposed of through Commission action." Id. (emphasis added)). The Commission's order adding this unwritten subtraction step to the procedures is at best an attempt to explicate nonrule policy, and at worst a clearly erroneous interpretation of the plain language adopted through rulemaking. Under either guise, the agency's erroneous action cannot stand.

After comparing the utility's earned return on equity to its authorized midpoint return on equity, the next step is the refund or collection of all or part of the tax savings or tax deficiency amount. When a utility earns below the midpoint of its authorized rate of return, "the utility shall collect all associated revenues." Rule 25-14.003(2)(a), F.A.C. (A 1,2). When the utility earns above its midpoint rate of return, it "shall refund all associated revenues." Id. at 24-14.003(3) (emphasis added). The rule clearly states that a utility "shall refund" the excess tax savings. The use of "shall" makes the refund mandatory. Florida Tallow Corp. v. Bryan, 237 So.2d 308 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970). The rule is plainly worded. It does not state that a utility may make other adjustments in lieu of a refund, nor does it state that the Commission may authorize alternative actions.

Further, the refund procedure outlined by the tax savings rule requires the utility to refund the tax savings either as a lump sum payment or in monthly installments. Rule 25-14.003 (6)(e), F.A.C. The refund is payable to "current customers of the utility at the time that such refunds are to be effected." Id. Additionally, the refund is based on "existing general residence and business local rate relationships." Id. at 25-14.003 (5)(f). Clearly, the rule directs a utility to return excess tax savings to its customers, not apply the tax savings to the utility's access charges or depreciation expense, nor make any other alternative adjustment. But see order no. 19726 supra at 284 (authorizing additional depreciation in lieu of a tax savings refund) (A 15).

Should there be any question about the interpretation of the term "refund," other Commission rules supply further clarification.

See rule 25-4.114, F.A.C. (telephone) (A 38), rule 25-6.109, F.A.C. (electric)(A 41), rule 25-7.091, F.A.C. (gas)(A 43), and rule 25-30.360, F.A.C. (water and sewer)(A 46). Commission rules contemplate per-customer refund of overearnings in the form of a credit on the individual customer's bill, or a check. Only in the event that there are unclaimed refunds do the rules provide for agency discretion in ordering an alternative "method of disposing of the unclaimed refunds." Rule 25-4.114(8), F.A.C. (A 40). Clearly, the Commission has well-defined policies and procedures for identifying and distributing refunds to utility customers.

Section 4 of the tax rule (A 1,2) requires each utility to furnish a final report every year following a tax rate change. This rule further requires that report to be accompanied by a petition containing a calculation of and method for refunding any tax savings for the year of the report. Id. at section (5)(c) cf. id. at section 3(6)(c). United, however, did not file a tax savings report. United claimed that its access charge reduction implemented May 1, 1987, passed back the full impact of the tax rate change to its ratepayers.

United's claim is at odds with the straight forward language contained in the tax rule (A 1) and order no. 19726 (A 15). United failed to file the mandatory tax savings report, denied the existence of any tax savings, and refused to comply with the mandatory refund provisions of the tax savings rule. Whatever carrier access charge reduction United may have provided long distance companies is immaterial both by the terms of the rule and by application of order no. 19726.

Section 120.68, Florida Statutes, directs the court to remand a case to the Commission if the court finds that the agency's exercise of discretion is "inconsistent with an agency rule." Section 120.68(12)(b) Fla. Stat. (1987). In 1984, the Florida Legislature amended section 120.68(12)(b), Florida Statutes (1983), which had permitted an agency to excuse itself from the operation of its rules as long as the agency justified its departure from the

rule. Best Western Travel Inn v. Department of Transportation, 435 So.2d 321 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). The Legislature found this unacceptable and, in 1984, deleted the provision allowing an agency to deviate from its rules. Section 120.68(12)(b), Fla. Stat. (1987); cf. section 120.68(12)(b), Fla. Stat. (1983). The reasons given for the change were to end confusion and uncertainty in dealing with government agencies.

The Legislature had provided an extensive rulemaking process in Chapter 120, Florida Statutes, in order to appraise all citizens of the requirements of rules so that they can act accordingly. The court in its ruling in <a href="Best">Best</a> Western</a>, allows an agency to depart from its rulemaking by stating its reasons for the departure, thereby bypassing the statutory rulemaking requirements and leaving the citizens not knowing what rules will be followed or what rules will be waived in special circumstances. <a href="This Procedure adds confusion and uncertainty in dealing with agencies of state government which was not intended when the Legislature enacted the 1974 revision."

Staff of Fla. H.R. Comm. on Govtl. Ops., HB 1225 (1984) Staff Analysis 2 (April 18, 1984) (available at Fla. Dept of State, Div. of Archives, ser. 18, carton 1534, Tallahassee, FL) (emphasis added).

Recent case law strictly applies the legislative redrafting of section 120.68(12)(b), Florida Statutes. <u>See Decarion v. Martinez</u>, 537 So.2d 1083 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) (finding that nothing in the language of the agency's rule indicated that it was "simply

advisory rather than mandatory." Id. at 1004); Woodley v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 505 So.2d 676 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) (holding that department's construction of its rule regarding policy exception requests "did not comport with the unambiguous language of the rule." Id. at 678); Boca Raton Artificial Kidney Center Inc. v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 493 So.2d 1055 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) (finding that department practice was no excuse to deviate from the plain and ordinary meaning of its rules. <u>Id</u>. at 1057). District Court of Appeal stated that if an agency finds its rule "impractical in operation," the proper procedure is to amend its rule through statutory rulemaking procedures. Boca Raton Artificial Kidney Center, Inc., 493 So. 2d at 1057.

# RECENT EMERGENCY CHANGES TO THE COMMISSION'S TAX RULE SHOW THAT THE COMMISSION KNOWS HOW TO PROPERLY ACCOUNT FOR TAX SAVINGS WITH A MECHANISM OTHER THAN A REFUND

The Commission and United contend that the tax rule allows utilities to account for tax savings in ways other than a refund, such as with access charge rate reductions to long distance companies. They take this position even though the rule requires a refund. A specific issue in this appeal is whether the Commission erred when it declared by order that "the first step in applying the tax rule is to determine the amount of the company's tax savings and then to determine if any of that amount has been disposed of through Commission action" (A 33).

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