IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CITIZENS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellants,

v.

CASE NO. 75,029

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION,
Appellee.

SID J. WAY

FEB 10 1930 C

Depoty Clerk

On Appeal from the Florida Public Service Commission

ANSWER BRIEF
OF
UNITED TELEPHONE COMPANY OF FLORIDA

Jerry M. Johns
Vice President-General Counsel
United Telephone Company of
Florida
Post Office Box 5000
Altamonte Springs, FL
32716-5000

(407)889-6016

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Public Counsel has not shown that the Commission violated Rule 25-14.003 F.A.C. That Rule exists to ensure that a utility's customers pay rates which accurately reflect the level of tax expenses the utility is required to pay. When, as in this case, the Commission adjusted customer rates coincident with the tax rate change, the purpose for which the tax rule exists has been satisfied. It is only when the tax rate changes and no customer rate changes are made to reflect the new tax rate that the refund provisions of the tax rule must be considered.

The Commission acted responsibly and in the ratepayers' best interests by ordering that all tax savings be flowed through as they were realized through access charge reductions. Handling tax savings through refunds delays the benefit for more than ${\bf a}$ year and introduces the possibility that less than all tax savings will be given back. ${\bf 2}$

Public Counsel itself urged the course of action it now condemns. It was among the first to petition the Commission to reduce rates to eliminate tax savings. It participated actively at every stage of the docket in which United was ordered to reduce access charges, without ever suggesting that the tax rule could not be satisfied in this manner. Public Counsel is estopped from taking a position to the contrary in this appeal.

United has no means by which to recover the \$14.7 million it lost in 1988 as a result of passing through tax savings by means

See Public Counsel's 1986 Petition, A. 19.

of rate reductions. If refunds are also ordered, United will have returned the tax savings twice.

If the strict construction of Rule 25-14.003, F.A.C., urged by Public Counsel is adopted by the Court, the Court should also hold that the definition of mid-point found in the rule be strictly construed. Strict construction of that definition would obviate the possibility of any refund.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

WHETHER RULE 25-14.003, F.A.C., HAS BEEN VIOLATED

Public Counsel has not established that the Commission violated its tax rule and did not acknowledge in its initial brief that a) Public Counsel was the first to urge that tax savings be disposed of through rate reductions rather than refunds, and b) Public Counsel actively participated in reducing rates at every stage of this proceeding, without ever raising the question it has now brought before the Court.

A. The tax rule has not been violated.

Public Counsel's principal argument in this case is that the Commission's tax rule can be satisfied only through refunds. In other words, United must first collect the excess taxes, and only then can a calculation be made as to whether some amount must be refunded.

The Commission has taken a different view of its responsibilities. The Commission has determined that it is preferable to reduce rates such that the excess taxes are never

collected. (A. 7) The tax rule exists to ensure that any tax savings not disposed of through rate reductions are taken care of through refunds.

Even a casual review of the tax rule reveals that the Commission's pro-active approach will result in greater savings to the ratepayer than Public Counsel's "refund only" approach. tax rule provides for refunds of tax savings only when a utility is earning above the mid-point of its authorized rate of return range. A utility could have tax savings of millions of dollars, but if it were earning at or below the mid-point of its authorized rate of return, the utility would keep all tax savings under Public Counsel's approach. Conversely, under the Commission's approach, tax savings are eliminated through rate reductions before they are ever collected, thus ensuring not only that the full savings go to the ratepayer, but also that the savings are disposed of up to 15 months sooner than they would be if the "refund only" approach is followed. To ensure that the rate reduction equals or exceeds the estimated tax savings, the Commission retains jurisdiction over this factual question and will apply the refund provisions of the tax rule if all tax savings are not consumed by the rate reduction. 3

Public Counsel has cited no provision in the tax rule or otherwise that precludes the Commission from disposing of tax savings through rate reductions. The tax rule cannot be violated if there are no tax savings to refund. The Commission is

³ See Order No. 22060 (A. 6 - 7)

empowered under Section 364.14, Florida Statutes, to fix rates for telephone companies such as United. Public Counsel has identified no restriction on the Commission's ability to anticipate savings resulting from known changes to the tax laws and from adjusting rates to dispose of those savings. That is exactly what the Commission has done in this Case.

Public Counsel construes the tax rule as if it were the only means available to the Commission to dispose of tax savings. That is plainly not the tax rule's function. The tax rule is designed to operate only when there have been no rate changes. The intent of the rule is to disgorge tax savings (or allow recovery of tax increases) when tax changes have taken affect and before rates have been adjusted to recognize those changes.

Federal income tax is an expense that is recognized when rates are determined in a rate proceeding. At the time of United's last rate proceeding in 1982, the federal corporate income tax rate was 46%. As a result of the Tax Reform Act of 1986, the tax rate decreased to 34%. If the Commission took no action, United's rates would have continued to collect taxes at the 46% level because that was the level in effect when the rates were designed. Had the Commission taken no action to adjust rates, the tax rule would have come into play, and if appropriate, a refund would have been ordered. For the reasons set forth above, however, the Commission did take action by lowering United's access charges concurrent with the tax reduction. The Commission reduced access charges sufficiently such that United's overall rate levels generated only enough revenues to recover

taxes at the new tax rate. 4

Since rates now generate only enough revenues to recover taxes at the rate of 34%, the tax rule has no applicability. 5

Literally taken, Public Counsel's argument would mean that rates can never be designed for a tax rate of other than 46% since, under their interpretation, the refund obligation of the tax rule survives any effort to offset the tax reduction by adjusting customer rates. Such a result is not contemplated by the statutes, rules or case law in Florida. In fact, the matching of revenues to the on-going level of expenses is so fundamentally sound as to be inarguable.

A ratemaking body such as Florida's Public Service Commission cannot ignore an existing fact that admittedly will affect the future rates, such as the corporate tax here.

Gulf Power Co. v. Bevis, 289 So.2d 401, 404
(Fla,. 1974)

Far from violating the tax rule, then, the Commission clearly acted to reduce rates **so** that customers would have the benefit of reduced taxes reflected in their rates from the very outset,

In 1987, because the rate reduction did not take place on the same date for all telephone companies, a portion of the tax savings was taken in the form of additional depreciation, which (like the access charge reduction) ensured that no tax savings accrued to United's investors.

It is a factual question as to whether the rate reduction fully disposed of tax savings. If the reduction did not consume all tax savings, the tax rule would apply as to that portion which was collected in spite of the reduction. The Commission is currently investigating whether United's rate reduction disposed of all tax savings in 1988.

rather than have to wait for up to 15 months to see whether any refund might be forthcoming.

B. Tax savings were disposed of in 1988 just as they were in 1987: through access charge reductions.

In 1987, United, pursuant to Commission Order No. 17429, disposed of its tax savings through a combination of access charge reductions and additional depreciation. (See footnotes 1 and 3, supra). Public Counsel has never challenged Order No. 17429, and specifically has never alleged to the Commission or this Court that the access charge reduction ordered therein did not lawfully and properly dispose of United's 1987 tax savings. That same reduction in access charges did not cease on January 1, 1988, but rather remained in effect throughout 1988 to dispose of 1988 tax savings. Public Counsel's initial brief nowhere acknowledges its concurrence with disposing of tax savings in 1987 through rate reductions, and nowhere explains why the same course of action is unlawful in 1988. The tax code did not change; the Commission's tax rule did not change; the access charge reduction did not change; only Public Counsel's position changed. Public Counsel does not even acknowledge this change, let alone justify it and has failed to show the Commission did anything to violate its rules when the Commission pursued the course of action urged by Public Counsel.

C. Public Counsel participated in and acquiesced to the action it now complains of.

Shortly after passage of the Tax Reform Act of 1986, the Commission opened Docket No. 861145-PU to determine the Act's

potential impact on regulated utilities.

As to United, the Commission found that the Company's 1987 tax savings would be \$7,150,000, To offset these tax savings, the Commission ordered United to reduce its access charges by \$6,700,000, effective May 1, 1987, and to record a one-time depreciation charge of \$568,000 (which equated to \$450,000 in terms of reducing revenues).

All of the foregoing was provided for in Order No. 17429, issued on April 20, 1987. (A. 1). Order No. 17429 applied to several dockets, two of which were Dockets No. 861145-PU, the tax investigation and 861615-TL, Public Counsel's 1986 petition. The Order stated:

As more fully discussed below, we find that the public interest would be served through our ordering United to reduce access charges and increase depreciation expense by the amount of its anticipated 1987 tax savings.

Our action here is intended to deal with a number of outstanding issues. In recognition of the tax law change, we will order the disposition of \$7,150,000 associated with United's tax expense reduction for 1987. This will be in lieu of the application of Commission Rule 25-14.003.

(A. 2, emphasis added)

Thus, clearly in 1987 the Commission established the principle that disposition of tax savings through means other than refunds would be pursued "in lieu of application of Rule 25-14.003."

This is not unknown to Public Counsel. In fact, Order No. 17429 specifically states:

United, <u>OPC</u>, and our staff then began discussions toward settlement of Dockets No. 861363-TL and <u>861615-TL</u> [Public Counsel's 1986 petition] and <u>of United's involvement in Dockets No. 861145-PU [the tax docket]</u>, 860984-TP and 820537-TP.

(A. 2, emphasis and brackets added)⁶

Thus, not only is Public Counsel charged with knowledge of the Commission's disposition of tax savings through access charge reductions and depreciation, Public Counsel actually participated in the docket.

Having knowledge of the Order, having participated in the discussions and having acquiesced to the Commission's disposition of tax savings, Public Counsel is estopped from now asserting that the Commission must order refunds. If the Public Counsel believed that only refunds could properly dispose of tax savings, it should not have participated in reducing rates and then waited silently until after rates had been reduced and revenues foregone to then raise the issue. Public Counsel's acquiescence and silence upon this issue and United's detrimental reliance upon the finality of the Commission's Order to reduce the CCL and take additional depreciation require that this Appeal be denied.

D. Public Counsel itself was among the first to urge that tax savings be passed to ratepayers through rate reductions.

Not only did Public Counsel participate in and acquiesce to United's access charge reductions as a means to dispose of tax

 $^{^{}f 6}$ OPC is the Office of Public Counsel.

savings, Public Counsel was the first party to urge that course of action.

In Docket No. 861615-TL, Public Counsel filed a Petition urging the Commission to reduce United's rates to "reflect a reduction in the tax expenses due to the change in the corporate tax rate from 46% to 34%." (A. 15) In other words, Public Counsel petitioned the Commission to take the very action that Public Counsel now asserts is a violation of the Commission tax rule.

In sum, this is what has transpired:

- 1. 1986 Public Counsel petitions the Commission to reduce rates to eliminate tax savings.
- 2. 1987 Public Counsel participates and concurs in the Commission's docket that reduces United's rates "in lieu of" application of the tax rule.
- 3. $\underline{1988}$ The rate reduction continues unchallenged by Public Counsel and United foregoes revenues of \$14,738,446. (A. 7)
- 4. $\underline{1989}$ Public Counsel asserts for the first time that a rate reduction cannot serve to satisfy the tax rule.

There is absolutely no rationale provided by Public Counsel for such a flip-flop. Public Counsel knows that United has no means by which to recover the \$14.7 million of rates it lost through the access charge reduction in 1988. The effect of Public Counsel's argument in this case, if it were to prevail, would be to augment the \$14.7 million rate reduction by a refund of up to \$14.5 million more. United's 1988 tax savings of \$14.5 million then would have cost it \$29.2 million. Nothing in the tax rule

requires such an inequitable result.

E. Public Counsel is estopped from arguing that tax savings may not be eliminated by rate reduction .

Public Counsel argued forcefully in its petition in Docket No. 861615-TL that the Commission should reduce rates to eliminate tax savings. It participated in the proceeding which culminated in the issuance of Order No. 17429 which ordered United to reduce access charge rates to eliminate tax savings. Having succeeded in persuading the Commission to reduce rates, Public Counsel is now estopped from asserting that tax savings can only be eliminated through the refund process provided for in the Commission's tax rule. The essence of the doctrine of estoppel is that a person should not be permitted to unfairly assert, assume or maintain inconsistent positions. Head v. Lane, 495 So.2d 821, 824 (Fla. 4th DCA, 1986).

One form of estoppel is equitable estoppel which

• • is present where a person attempts to change his position after representing a contrary position to another who reasonably relied upon the representation and who would suffer substantial injury if the inconsistent position were permitted to be successfully asserted.

Head v. Lane, supra, at 824.

The Court in <u>Head</u> found that failure to assert a position would also give rise to an estoppel. Where a person has conducted himself in a certain manner, he cannot afterward assume an inconsistent position to the prejudice of one who acted in reliance on that conduct. <u>United Contractors, Inc. v. United</u>

Construction Corp., 187 So.2d 695, 701 (Fla. 2nd DCA, 1966). See

also, <u>Doyle v. Tutan</u>, 110 So.2d 42 (Fla. 3rd DCA, 1959) and <u>Gleason v. Leadership Housing</u>, <u>Inc.</u> 327 So.2d 101 (Fla. 4th DCA, 1976). Public Counsel's initial conduct was to urge rate reductions in the Docket which resulted in the Commission's order reducing rates. Public Counsel's inconsistent position is to urge in the instant proceeding that tax savings cannot be passed on by rate reductions, but rather must consist of refunds. United is the party who will be prejudiced by having to make a \$14.5 million refund, in addition to the \$14.7 million rate reduction it has already made when total tax savings in 1988 were approximately \$14.5 million. With respect to estoppel, regardless of whether the Commission acted properly, it acted as Public Counsel had petitioned and in consonance with Public Counsel's active and willful participation. Public Counsel is estopped from asserting that the tax rule has been violated.

POINT II

WHETHER RULE 25-14.003, F.A.C. SHOULD BE STRICTLY INTERPRETED

Public Counsel's argument regarding the Commission's tax rule is founded upon the necessity of a literal interpretation of the rule:

The rule is plainly worded. It does not state that a utility may make other adjustments in lieu of a refund, nor does it state that the Commission may authorize alternative actions.

(Public Counsel's initial brief, at p. 12).

Since Public Counsel is arguing for a strict construction of the tax rule, it would be appropriate to consider the plain meaning of subsection (1)(f) of the rule, which defines

"mid-point" as the mid-point approved in the "utility's last rate

case." (A. 12) The tax rule provides for a refund of tax savings

only if a utility is earning above the mid-point of the return on

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